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The History Of The Church Clock  

St Pauls Church Woodhouse Eaves Leicestershire. 
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Introduction 

There has always been a mystery surrounding the Church Clock, or Village Clock as it was 
sometimes known. The information contained in this research seeks to solve some of these 
and has recently unearthed some interesting and informative old documents, copies of which 
are referred to in this document and can be found in the Appendices. 

 

Design 

St Paul’s Church Woodhouse Eaves and St Peter’s Copt Oak were two of many of the 
churches designed by architect William Railton. For these two local churches he used the 
same design as can be seen at the bottom of original sketch ‘Design of the churches at 
Woodhouse Eaves and Copt Oak of Charnwood Forest Leicestershire’ [Figure 1] and were 
built about the same time in 1836/7. 

 

 

Figure 1: Copy of William Railton original architect design 18351 

 

 

																																																													
1 ‘Design of the Churches at Woodhouse Eaves and Copt Oak, on Charnwood Forest, Leicestershire by William 
Railton’, Incorporated Church Building Society (ICBS), Lambeth Palace Library online 
[http://images.lambethpalacelibrary.org.uk/luna/servlet/s/ubaajd] 
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St Paul’s and St Peter churches were not originally designed with a clock installed, as can be 
seen in the original design. However St Paul’s has undergone many alterations over the years, 
including the installation of the clock and two clock faces.  

St Peter at Copt Oak [Figure 2] remains today with no clock installed and with the original 
‘window’, hood moulds and foliage label stops, which can be seen clearly over the front door 
and triple lancet bell openings on each face with parapet and pinnacles.   

 

Figure 2: 1897 - 2018 St Peter, Copt Oak – window above main door. 

In contrast St Paul’s has undergone many alterations over the years being in a much larger, 
wealthier parish. The woodcut sketch and zoomed image below dated 1843, showing St 
Paul’s Church and the original school is a bit hazy, but would seem to confirm that a clock 
face was not evident. On the front of the tower is a circle but it would seem there is a 
‘window’ with hoodmoulds and foliage label stops on the tower above the door and no 
‘window’ on the nearside of the tower. 
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2 

Figure 3: Woodcut sketch of Woodhouse Eaves School, 1843 

Over the years there has been conjecture as to whether a clock was fitted prior to 1904, but it 
appeared to be clear from woodcut sketches [figure 3] and post cards that a clock was not in 
situ in 1843. However, by 1902 it appears that a clock had been installed. The zoomed image 
in figure 4 from 1902 and the postcard in figure 5 from the early 1900s clearly show a clock 
face present. This had also been supported by documents recently discovered at St Paul’s, to 
be discussed later within this document. The exact date that this early clock was installed has 
not yet been established.  

 

Figure 4: Zoomed image of church quarry, Woodhouse Eaves, Charnwood Forest, 
19023 

 

																																																													
2 ‘CC 13 St. Paul's Church of England and School 1843’, Woodhouse and Woodhouse Eaves Website [http://w-
we.qwkz.uk/woodhouseeaves/churches-and-chapels,558653.html] 
3 Image reproduced by permission of British Geological Survey, ref EA18/030.	
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Figure 5: Postcard, early 1900s 4 

 

 

Figure 6: Postcard c1903 just prior to installation of the clock face on the side facing the 
road and raising of the tower5 

 
 
 
 

 

Rebuilding of Tower 

																																																													
4	‘F 002 Village Stores owned by G Garner’, Woodhouse and Woodhouse Eaves Website [http://w-
we.qwkz.uk/woodhouseeaves/gallery,691034.html] 
5 ‘CC 18 St. Paul's Church without the Clock’, Woodhouse and Woodhouse Eaves Website [http://w-
we.qwkz.uk/woodhouseeaves/churches-and-chapels,558659.html]	
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Three years after the death of Queen Victoria and to commemorate her life and reign, a peal 
of six new bells were going to be installed at St Paul’s, however, the original tower was 
found to be inadequate to house the new bells. The tower was made stronger and the upper 
part of the bell tower pulled down and completely rebuilt. The height of the church tower was 
rebuilt in 1904 and increased by about 18 to 24 inches which was to help take the extra 
weight of the new bells. At the same time, a new round opening was made in the north face to 
the same size and design as the ordinal opening in the south face with the insert hood moulds 
with foliage label stop. The original ‘window’ was removed in the south face to install the 
clock face and a clock face in the north face opening. 

 

A Recent Discovery 

The current vestry was built in 1909 and in mid-2017 it was cleared out to allow for repairs to 
the chancel to take place. A number of old documents were discovered, which have been 
invaluable and provided in-depth information to solve some of the mysteries that surround 
the clock.   

As discussed, it was always thought that it appeared that no clock was installed in St Paul’s 
prior to 1904. However, in an extract taken from one of the newly discovered documents, a 
memorandum dated July 17th 1903 notes that John Smiths of Derby wrote to Frank Lankester 
[treasurer and secretary] that Smiths and Taylors [Bellfounders Loughborough] whom 
examined the Church Tower and old clock states – ‘’ the old clock is a very poor thing and 
we would certainly not advise Chimes to be attached’’ [Copy of full document Appendix 1] 
and advised that a new clock be installed. The old clock is still shrouded in mystery for now, 
as it is not known when it was purchased or when it was installed. 

Also amongst the documents found was a list titled ‘Subscription List towards the 
Woodhouse Eaves Bells and Clock Fund’ which includes information at the end of the 
document ‘Sale of old clock £4.10 shillings’ [Appendix 2]. An invoice to advertise the sale of 
the clock was also found which shows the clock was advertised for sale in The Church Times 
with two insertions on the 8th& 15th July at seven shillings and presumably the date of Oct 
25/04 refers to when it was paid. [Appendix 3]. 

 

Clock Estimates and Order  

Again in the recently discovered documents, a five page memorandum, dated July 17th 1903, 
from John Smiths and Sons provides a very detailed quote and full information regarding the 
new clock, part of which states ‘generally made to the designs or Lord Grimthorpe [the great 
authority on such clocks] and we should guarantee it to maintain perfectly acute time with 
less variation than 3 seconds.’ 
This document contained three estimates with the music scales for the bells. Estimate one 
contained full details of the clock and its installation (£72); the second estimate the same as 
the first, but having in addition ‘’Ding Dong’ quarter chimes playing (£104); and estimate 
three, again the same as the first, but having in addition ‘’Cambridge quarter chimes’’ (£125). 
Full document [Appendix 1] 
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In an extract from a subsequent document from John Smith, dated March 23rd 1904, it stated 
‘the cost of a second dial with all fittings and connections would be £4.10 shillings. 
[Appendix 4] 
 
Another memorandum from John Smith and Sons dated June 28th 1904 to Frank Lankester, 
obviously acknowledging the order for the clock states: ‘ We beg to thank you for you favour 
respecting the Clock for Woodhouse Eaves and to say that we will put the work in hand so as 
to have all ready by time you wish for.’ Signed ‘Soliciting your further favours, We beg to 
remain, Your obediently....’   

*Note the typeface and terminology used in those days. [Appendix 5] 

The order for the clock was made with Smith of Derby in 1904 to make and install the 
Cambridge (i.e. Westminster) chiming clock and two x 4’ dia. dials. The copy of the invoice 
shows the clock was purchased on 22nd November 1904 for £139.10 shillings, a considerable 
sum at that time, when a weekly farm labours wage was 14 shillings eleven and half pence, 
equivalent to 75p today. [Appendix 6] 

 

Figure 7: Copy of Smiths Sales Ledger entry for November 22nd 1904.6 

																																																													
6	Smiths	of	Derby	Archives	
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The top of the sales ledger page 74, dated 1897 – seen in figure 7 - does not relate to the order 
of clock but was on the same page - it can be seen even a small payment for a teapot handle 
took months to pay. On the order for the clock the name at the top is Frank Lankester Esq.  

A ‘receipt’ states ‘Bought of John Smith & Sons dated Dec 1904 the date 22Nov states ‘New 
church clock and Cambridge Chimes and two dials as per agreement £139.10 shilling, it is 
very pale but it would appear £100 was paid Sep 19th 1904 leaving a balance of £39.10 
shillings’ [Appendix7]. A memorandum dated December 19th 1904, from Smith to Frank, 
acknowledged this payment of £100. A subsequent ‘receipt’, dated September 29th 1905, 
acknowledges the balance paid of £37.8 shillings with a reduction for ‘subscription’ of £2. 8 
shillings. [Appendix 9]  

Smith today could not advise what the reference to “Subscription” means, but quoted ‘It was 
nice to see that payment was prompt, unlike many at the time!’ 

It is likely that Smith, now fourth generation, have maintained the clock throughout its life, 
however their database only goes back as far as 2002. The cost of the current maintenance 
service runs to 2019 and will be £510.00 + VAT. Compared to the maintenance costs and 
dates on the invoice 1908-19017, maintenance was £2.5 shillings. [£2 25p today]  

In comparison, the cost for Smiths to provide a brand new clock to the same specification as 
the existing 1904 clock, a Smith of Derby flatbed, would be currently [2017] approximately 
£150,000.00 + VAT at 20%. 

 

Figure 8: Smiths of Derby Shop c1900 
   

Figure 9: Smiths Clock Works c1900 

Upon the completion of the alteration to the tower and the installation of the bells and clock, 
the Loughborough Monitor and News, dated October 20th 1904, reported that a Dedication 
Service addressed by the Bishop of Peterborough officiated at a special service. The ‘edifice’ 
was completely full and some were unable to gain admission, the address given by the Bishop 
mainly referring to the bells [Appendix 8].  



Page	9	of	16	
		

It would appear from this article that the initial predicted cost for all the works was 
insufficient. Additional work was required and additional funds needed to be raised. This 
may have accounted for the fact that the balance of the clock was not paid in full until nine 
months later. 

From the inscription on the brass plaque inside the church, seen in figure 10, it was not clear 
if the Rev. Hiley paid for the clock as it says it was ‘placed’ by him, however this may have 
been the case but there were also many wealthy benefactor living in the area at the time.  

This mystery has subsequently been solved, again by the documents discovered in the vestry. 
The ‘Subscriptions List Towards the Woodhouse Eaves Bells and Clock Fund’ shows 
individual benefactors who subscribed over ten shilling – the second highest amount was 
donated by the Rev A.J. Hiley Vicar (cost of clock) £139.10 shillings. [Appendix 2] 

 

 

Figure 10: Arnold J. W. Hiley, Vicar of St. Paul’s 1898 – 1929. (By David Morley) 

 

The Clock Keeper 
 
When the current clock was installed in 1904 there is evidence that it had to be wound by 
hand once a week or more, which meant turning each barrel 60 times and there were three of 
them; the pendulum, the quarter chimer and the hour chimer. 

In the spring and autumn when the clocks went forward and back, the clock had to be stopped 
to adjust the time. Various volunteer clock-keepers over the years have undertaken this task, 
which was not for the faint hearted – it involved climbing the ladder alone in the dead of 
night, after 2 a.m., but only after the clock has struck the hour, so as not to interfere with its 
operation. The vertical steel ladder is bolted to the wall near the church entrance, with the 
trap door in the ceiling to clamber through. Once in the bell tower, a lever was pulled to lift 
and lock the clappers away from the bell to prevent it from chiming out, on the hour, half 
hour and three-quarter hour, when the hands were rotated forward in the spring and back in 
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the autumn. There was a time when the clock chimes were muffled to reduce the sound, but 
the material has since been removed. 

 

Figure 11: Steel Ladder Up to Bell Tower 
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Figure 12: Instruction for General Care and Maintenance (By David Morley) 
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Directions ‘For General Care and Maintenance of the Turret Clock’ were on the inside of the 
wooden panelled cupboard inside the church entrance, which now contains the clock 
workings. 

 

Subsequent Work on the Clock 

In 1977 the clock face was restored and re-gilded to mark the Silver Jubilee of Queen 
Elizabeth II and the brass plaque below added to the cupboard containing the clock 
mechanism. 
 

.  

Figure 13: Brass plaque commemorating the restoration of the clock face, 1977 

 

Having to wind the original clock by hand was an arduous task and if it were not for the 
dedicated volunteer ‘clock keepers’, the clock would not have kept time. This changed in 
1998 when the electric winding system was installed at the cost of £5,000, which was paid for 
by an unknown benefactor in the village. This was placed in a large wooden enclosed locked 
cabinet in the church front entrance next to the ladder. Another brass plaque placed on the 
cupboard in commemoration. 

 

 

Figure 14: Brass plaque commemorating installation of electric winding system 
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Figure 15: Cupboard containing clock mechanism pre-2018 
Vertical steel ladder and safety cage on the right  

 
Recent Improvements 

 
As part of the St Paul’s Heritage Project, in November 2017 some of the front panels were 
replaced by glass and a light was installed. This was to enable the working of the clock to be 
clearly seen by all.  

A CCTV screen has been installed at the side of the cupboard next to the steps which show 
the bell and clacker and if you are very patient, it can be seen striking the quarters and hours. 
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Figure 16: CCTV Screen 
 
 

 
Figure 17: Front panels of the cupboard replaced by glass (By Beth Walsh) 
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Figure 18: The clock workings can now be seen in great detail (By David Morley)  
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Appendices 

Appendices 1- 7 & 9  

Copies taken relating to the clock of some of the papers discover during building works in St 
Paul Church Vestry mid-2017. Originals currently held by Keith Randon. 

Appendix 8  

Exert from The Loughborough Monitor and News dated October 20th 1904 tape archive 
Loughborough Library Granby Street Local Studies Reference Room 
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Appendix 8 - Extract from The Loughborough Monitor & News, October 20th 1904 
pg.7 
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